
Please ask for  Democratic Services: Telephone (01362) 656295
e-mail: democraticservices@breckland.gov.uk

AGENDA
NOTE: In the case of non-members, this agenda is for information only

Committee - CABINET
Date & Time - TUESDAY 20TH MARCH, 2018 AT 10.00AM 

Venue - SWAFFHAM TOWN COUNCIL, TOWN 
HALL, 4 LONDON STREET, SWAFFHAM, 
PE37 7DQ

There will be an opportunity for members of the public to ask 
questions of the Cabinet from 9.30 to 10.00am.

Members of the Committee requiring further information, or with specific 
questions, are asked to raise these with the appropriate officer at least 
two working days before the meeting.  If the information requested is 

available, this will be provided, and reported to Committee.

The Cabinet

Mr J.W. Nunn (Chairman)
Mr S. H. Chapman-Allen (Vice-Chairman)
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Mr P.D. Claussen

Mr J.P. Cowen
Mr M. S. Robinson
Mr A.C. Stasiak
Mrs A M Webb

PERSONS ATTENDING THE MEETING ARE 
REQUESTED TO TURN OFF MOBILE TELEPHONES

Democratic Services 
Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke,
Dereham Norfolk, NR19 1EE

Date: Monday 12 March 2018

Public Document Pack





Cabinet
20 March 2018

PART A - ITEMS OPEN TO THE PUBLIC

Page(s)
herewith

PUBLIC QUESTIONS
There will be an opportunity for members of the public to ask questions of 
the Cabinet from 9.30 to 10.00am.

1. MINUTES 5 - 8
To confirm the Minutes of the meeting held on 6 February 2018.

2. APOLOGIES 
To receive apologies for absence.  

3. URGENT BUSINESS 
To note whether the Chairman proposes to accept any item as urgent 
business, pursuant to Section 100(B)(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 
1972.

4. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire 
consideration of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a Member has 
a disclosable pecuniary interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 
2011.  Members are also required to withdraw from the meeting room as 
stated in the Standing Orders of this Council.

5. NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 
To note the names of any non-members who wish to address the meeting.

6. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY) 

7. BRECKLAND COMMUNITY FUNDING APPLICATIONS (STANDING 
ITEM) 
To consider the grants put forward:

a) Charles Burrell Centre - Large Match Funding Application 9 - 27 

Report of Executive Member Place, Councillor Paul Claussen.

8. INVESTMENT IN AFFORDABLE HOUSING 28 - 31
Report of Executive Member for Growth, Councillor Gordon Bambridge.

9. PFI BENCHMARKING EXERCISE 32 - 35
Report of Deputy Leader & Executive Member for Strategy Governance and 
Transformation, Councillor Sam Chapman-Allen.



Cabinet
20 March 2018

Page(s)
herewith

10. NEXT MEETING 
To note that the date of the next meeting of Cabinet will be held on 1 May 
2018, at 9.30am in the Norfolk Room, Elizabeth House, Dereham. 

11. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
To consider passing the following resolution:

“That under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press 
and the public be excluded from the meeting for the following item of 
business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A to the Act”.

PART B – ITEM FROM WHICH THE PRESS AND THE PUBLIC ARE 
EXCLUDED  

12. RIVERSIDE, THETFORD - COMMERCIAL LETTINGS 36 - 43
Report of Executive Member for Growth & Commercialisation, Councillor 
Adrian Stasiak.



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

CABINET

Held on Tuesday, 6 February 2018 at 9.30 am in
Norfolk & Dereham Rooms, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

PRESENT
Mr J.W. Nunn (Chairman)
Mr S. H. Chapman-Allen (Vice-
Chairman)
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Mr P.D. Claussen

Mr J.P. Cowen
Mr M. S. Robinson
Mrs A M Webb

Also Present
Mr W.P. Borrett
Mr H. E. J. Clarke
Mr A.P. Joel

Mr K. Martin
Mrs S.M. Matthews

In Attendance
Anna Graves - Chief Executive
Christine Marshall - Executive Director Commercialisation (S151 

Officer)
Rob Walker - Executive Director Place
Teresa Smith - Democratic Services Team Leader

Action By

14/18 MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 2 January 2018 were confirmed and 
signed by the Chairman.

15/18 APOLOGIES 

An apology was received from Councillor Stasiak.

16/18 URGENT BUSINESS 

None.

17/18 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

None.

18/18 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 

Councillors Borrett, Clarke, Joel, Martin and Matthews.

Public Document Pack

5

Agenda Item 1



Cabinet
6 February 2018

2

Action By

19/18 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY) 

The Deputy Leader advised that alternate meetings of Cabinet would be held 
in the market Towns across the district to allow Executive Members to have a 
better understanding of issues going forward.  The next meeting of Cabinet 
would be held at Swaffham Town Hall and the start of the meeting would 
allow time for public questions.

20/18 BRECKLAND COMMUNITY FUNDING APPLICATIONS (STANDING ITEM) 

None. 

21/18 QUARTER 3 2017-18 PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW REPORT 

The Deputy Leader and Executive Member of Strategy, Governance and 
Transformation informed Members that Quarter 3’s performance had been 
assessed as ‘fair’ however there were 5 indicators that were ‘red’ meaning 
performance was poor and not achieving the minimum standard.  The 
Executive Member for the area requiring improvement was working with 
Officers through the challenges and would report back to Overview and 
Scrutiny Commission.

The report was for information only.

22/18 NORFOLK STRATEGIC FRAMEWORK 

The Executive Member for Growth presented the report explaining it was a 
framework that had been formulated with key strategic partners and was 
supported across Norfolk.  

Options
Option 1 – That Cabinet endorse the document as part of the Council’s 
ongoing commitment to the Duty to Co-operate.

Option 2 – That Cabinet note the contents of the framework but does not 
endorse the document.

Reasons
Endorsing option 1 will provide the Council with further demonstration of a 
continued and active engagement in Strategic Planning activity under the 
Localism Act’s Duty to Co-operate.

RESOLVED that Cabinet considered the document and endorsed the 
framework as part of the Council’s ongoing Duty to Co-operate activity.

23/18 QUARTER 3 FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2017-18 

The Executive Member for Finance highlighted that the Quarter 3 report 
provided a good forecast and whilst it showed a minor over spend currently 
which by the end of the financial year there could be further savings 
generated.

Options
Option 1 - That the report and appendix be noted and that any below budget 
spend at 31 March 2018 up to £100,000 is contributed into the Organisational 

6



Cabinet
6 February 2018

3

Action By

Development Reserve to be used for feasibility studies relating to growth and 
investment fund projects (to be added to the existing £100,000 currently held 
& subject to the existing release approvals)

Option 2 - That the report and appendix be noted and no funding is 
contributed into the Organisational Development reserve.

Reasons
To provide timely information to Members on the overall financial position of 
the Council, enabling resource re-allocation to priorities where necessary.

It was RESOLVED that:
1) That the report and appendix be noted

2) That any below budget spend at 31 March 2018 up to £100,000 is 
contributed into the Organisational Development Reserve to be used for 
feasibility studies relating to growth and investment fund projects (to be 
added to the existing £100,000 currently held & subject to the existing 
release approvals).

24/18 BUDGET SETTING, MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN & CAPITAL 
STRATEGY 

The Leader said was pleased to see that Breckland would reduce the 
reliance of the Revenue Support Grant (RSG) to nil in 2018/19.  In addition 
the reliance on the New Homes Bonus with indicative values of £1.7m in 
2018/19 and £1.4m in 2019/20 would be contributed into the Communities 
reserves and was publicly committed to spend within the community projects. 

The Executive Member for Finance added that through the Growth and 
Investment fund, and the Communities fund, would allow greater opportunity 
to invest in the District.

The Executive Member for Place added that the report had reflected an 
exciting opportunity going forward.

The Leader also echoed this comment, and thanked the Executive Director of 
Commercialisation and the Chief Accountant for their work.

Options
Option 1 - Recommendations 1 to 6 above are approved.

Option 2 - That amendments are made before recommendations 1 to 6 above 
are approved.

Reasons
To comply with budgetary and policy framework.

RECOMMEND to Full Council that:

1) The Breckland revenue estimates and parish special expenses for 
2018-19 and outline position through to 2021-22 (as set out in 
Appendix B and E) are approved.

2) The capital estimates and associated funding for 2018-19 and outline 

7



Cabinet
6 February 2018

4

Action By

position through to 2021-22 (as set out in Appendix H) are approved.

3) The fees and charges shown at Appendix D and D2, for adoption on 1 
April 2018 are approved.

4) The Council Tax is set at £83.88 for a Band D property in 2018-19 (a 
£4.95 per annum increase on 2017-18 levels).

5) The financial Medium Term Plan at Appendix A is approved.

6) The Capital Strategy at Appendix G is approved.

25/18 NEXT MEETING 

The arrangements for the next meeting on 20 March 2018 at 9.30am at 
Swaffham Town Council, Town Hall, 4 London Street, Swaffham, PE37 7DQ 
were noted.

The meeting closed at 10.02 am

CHAIRMAN

8



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Executive Member for Place, Paul Claussen

To: Cabinet, 20 March 2018

Author: Clive Rayner, Grant Officer, Norfolk Community Foundation

Subject: Match Funding (large) application 

Purpose: To consider the decision to award funding to The Charles Burrell 
Centre

Recommendation:

1) That the Executive Member for Place approves the following grant award:
 £20,000 (or 23% of the project costs, whichever is the lower amount) to the 

Charles Burrell Centre for a new project called ‘Full Steam Ahead’ to provide 
work experience opportunities for people who are currently economically 
inactive.

BACKGROUND – The Charles Burrell Centre

1.1 The Charles Burrell Centre Ltd (CBC) is based on Staniforth Road in Thetford in a 
former High School which now serves as a multi-purpose community and 
business centre. The Centre has 46 permanent tenants from both the commercial 
and community sectors and many regular sessional hirers. The organisation is set 
up as a community benefit society which is a not-for-profit structure. The 
organisation has a 30 year lease on the building from Norfolk County Council. 

1.2 This application is to expand the CBC’s capacity to take on and support greater 
numbers of volunteers. This will be achieved primarily by recruiting a full-time 
Project Co-ordinator to manage and mentor the volunteers. CBC has successfully 
applied for a grant of £43,187.95 from the Local Investment in Future Talent 
scheme (LIFT). This is a skills and employability grant scheme administered by 
Norfolk County Council and funded primarily by the European Union. LIFT will 
only grant a maximum of 50% of the total project costs and therefore match 
funding is required. A grant from Breckland Council would contribute 23% of the 
total two year funding for the project (total £86,376) with the grant being used to 
support year 1 staff costs. The first year costs of the project are £44,762. 
Confirmation of the LIFT funding has been provided and it is noted that the 
documentation for this grant requires the CBC to confirm it has secured the 
necessary match funding by 2 March 2018.  There is an option of the CBC 
confirming it can provide match funding from its reserves in the short term until a 
decision is made by Breckland Council.

1.3 The project will enable the CBC to provide 80 volunteers over the two year period 
with work experience opportunities, targeting those that are economically inactive. 
Volunteers will gain work experience, vocational training, learning and skills 
provision, social inclusion and a meaningful, productive connection to local 
businesses and employers. Each volunteer will have a training and development 
package, co-ordinated as part of a Personal Development Plan overseen by the 
Project Coordinator and supported by a part-time Administrator.
The CBC has built strong relationships and referral links with JobCentre Plus, 

9

Agenda Item 7a



Nova Training, the Prince's Trust and other local service providers to offer work 
experience placements. 

Approximately 10 volunteers will be engaged at any one time, depending on the 
level of support required for each individual. Participants will undertake a range of 
tasks at the centre including grounds maintenance tasks across the 12-hectare 
site, general maintenance tasks including painting and decorating as well as 
administration tasks. Grounds maintenance tasks will include grass-cutting, 
weeding, tending to flower beds, landscaping, tree work and litter picking. Some of 
the basic maintenance tasks on site will include painting, plumbing and electrical 
work and other DIY tasks. Opportunities will also exist to support fundraising 
activities and other events on site which will provide a wider range of experiences. 
Volunteers will be fully supported over a two-month period at which point they may 
choose to progress to full or part-time employment, continue volunteering at the 
centre or pursue other volunteering opportunities.

1.4 The project has set itself a target of having 32 unemployed people moving into 
employment (or self-employment) directly on ceasing their involvement with the 
project. Within the following six month period it is forecasting that this number 
would have increased to 50 people.

1.5 Over the past three years, more than 140 volunteers have engaged with the CBC 
in various capacities. It currently has 10 volunteers who complete at least one shift 
per week and a much larger pool of volunteers who support community events 
and fundraising efforts. Of these 10 regular volunteers, four are on work 
experience placements through Nova Training and two are on work experience 
placements through Jobcentre Plus. The CBC does not have the capacity 
amongst its current staff team to support any more people. The new post’s role 
will include ensuring adequate safety and supervision, coordination of inductions 
and training sessions, enhancing current links with local service providers and 
creating new ones, recruitment of volunteers, practical support, assistance with 
job searching/ applications and ensuring all targets are being met. The Project 
Coordinator will act as a mentor to volunteers, using experience and resources to 
help individuals gain confidence as well as worked-based skills. Other Charles 
Burrell Centre staff and board members will also be actively involved in the project 
offering advice, training and guidance in a number of areas. Regular reviews and 
supervisions will be built into the programme to support participants at each stage 
and a final review meeting will take place to confirm next steps. All volunteers will 
be able to use the Centre’s 'Volunteers Hub' to research job vacancies, complete 
application forms, refresh their CV and meet with those able to provide advice and 
guidance around careers support. This may include advice about funding for 
business start-ups or information about further training. Many tenants on site have 
already been through this process with some securing funding from the LEP, this 
first-hand experience will be available to be shared. 

1.6 The Centre already has a good track record of assisting volunteers into work. 
Over the past twelve months seven regular volunteers have gone on to find 
employment (three having been employed directly by the Centre itself) while a 
further five have gone into higher education including one young person who is 
enrolled on a Computer Gaming Technology course at Anglia Ruskin University. 
All of these volunteers have developed skills and confidence during their time with 
CBC and will also have undertaken training courses including Emergency First 
Aid, Fire Marshal Training and IT courses. 

1.7 The overall two year budget covers staff costs of £61,066 for the Project Co-

10



ordinator (salary £18,500 plus on-costs) plus a part-time (18.5 hours per week) 
Project Administrator. Other project costs are volunteer costs of £10,100 which 
include provision for supporting volunteers with transport and childcare costs to 
ensure the project is fully inclusive, personal protective equipment £4,650, office 
overheads £9,160 and publicity costs of £1,400. The grant from Breckland Council 
would be used solely to support year one staffing costs.
 

1.8 The application confirms that the CBC has appropriate training, risk assessments, 
policies and procedures in place to safeguard volunteers. It will also provide a 
detailed induction programme and personal protection equipment to volunteers 
where this is necessary.

1.9 CBC see this project being sustained after the initial two year period by 
incorporating this within the organisation’s core operations and funding it from 
trading surpluses. The organisation had a surplus of around £16,000 in the year to 
March 2017 but is in the process of increasing the amount of lettable space within 
the building which has potential to increase revenues.

1.10 CBC benefited from a previous match funding grant of £5,000 which was paid in 
November 2017. The applicant reports that the grant is due to be spent by the end 
of February 2018 although the wider project of which it is part will run over a 
twelve month period in different delivery phases. The CBC will therefore not be 
able to complete end of grant reporting on the first grant at present and will be in 
the position of having two active Match Funding grants if the current application is 
approved for funding. The rules of the scheme mean that the organisation is 
eligible to be considered for a further grant in the subsequent financial year i.e. 
from April 2018 onwards, but it would normally be expected that the previous 
grant had been fully spent and end of grant reporting completed. 

1.11 As this project has potential to achieve considerable benefits for people who are 
currently unemployed and as match funding is needed to enable the CBC to 
access the LIFT funding, it is recommended that this application is supported in 
full with the grant being paid at the start of the 2018/19 financial year.

2) OPTIONS

2.1 Fully fund the application set out in the report
2.2 Part fund the application set out in the report
2.3 Do nothing

3) REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 The grant application meets the criteria of the scheme.

4) EXPECTED BENEFITS 

4.1  Over a two year period, 80 people who are at present economically inactive will 
gain a range of volunteering and learning opportunities that will move them 
closer to the workplace. 

 Over a two year period 32 unemployed people will move into employment (or 
self-employment) directly on ceasing their involvement with the project. Within 
the following six month period this number will have increased to 50 people

 

11



5) IMPLICATIONS
In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of 
the decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk 
Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; 
Transformation Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there 
may be implications under one or more of these headings, these are identified 
below.

5.1 Financial

5.1.1 The Match Funding reserves held by Norfolk Community Foundation have a current 
balance of £70,224. There are therefore sufficient funds to meet the grant 
expenditure of £20,000 proposed in this report.  

5.2 Corporate Priorities

5.2.1 The project aligns with the following Breckland objectives: 1) Support groups and 
organisations to provide a range of local facilities within their communities which 
further improve learning opportunities, community health and community wellbeing. 
The project will give volunteers many opportunities to learn and to develop their 
employment prospects – which will impact on their overall wellbeing. At the same 
time the volunteers’ work will assist the sustainability of the centre by increasing the 
level of maintenance undertaken on site making the venue more attractive to 
prospective tenants and hirers. 2) Grow and encourage local opportunities and 
activities for business in the district – the centre has already enabled 19 new 
business start-ups and providing training and mentoring to volunteers will help to 
create a better skilled pool of workers to assist local businesses to develop. 
Volunteers will also be supported if they wish to pursue a business start-up.

5.3 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.3.1 Breckland member Sam Chapman-Allen has commented that: “The Charles Burrell 
Centre have undertaken similar work on a smaller scale with key partners and the 
benefits have proven themselves so much that they wish to expand the programme 
and offer more bespoke support for those who are in need and trying to seek re-
employment/up-skilling etc. I feel that this project will offer life changing 
opportunities, as such I offer my support to this project.”

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 

6.1 Primarily Thetford Burrell but also all other Thetford wards and potentially 
neighbouring parishes in the south of Breckland. 

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 NCF – Norfolk Community Foundation

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Clive Rayner, Grant Officer, 
Norfolk Community Foundation
Telephone Number: 01603 623958

12



Email: cliverayner@norfolkfoundation.com

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Discretionary Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A – Grant Application

13



Thu Jan 18 14:31:18 GMT 2018Application: OGA125463

  Page  of 1 14

Surname
Snowdon

Forename(s)
Mark

Title
Mr 

Breckland Community Funding Application
Form

Section 1 - About the organisation applying

Organisation name and address details

Name of the organisation applying
Charles Burrell Centre Ltd

Address of your organisation

Street
Staniforth Road

Town/City
Thetford

County
Norfolk

Postcode
IP24 3LH

Website
www.charlesburrellcentre.org.uk

Telephone
01842 779867

Email address
mark@charlesburrellcentre.org.uk

Main Contact Person
These are the details that will be used for correspondence purposes.

Position in organisation

14



Thu Jan 18 14:31:18 GMT 2018Application: OGA125463

  Page  of 2 14

Community Benefit Society - 7064Other

Community interest company

Unincorporated club or association

Company limited by guarantees

A registered charity

Year
2015 

Month
02 

Chief Operations Officer

Daytime Phone
01842 779867

Home Phone

Mobile Phone

Email
mark@charlesburrellcentre.org.uk

Use organisation's address for correspondence

Organisation Start Date
Please estimate if exact date is not known - please select earliest date if your organisation predates
the options given.

What type of organisation are you?
Please select as many as appropriate. For companies, CICs and Social Enterprises, please note your
constitution/ articles should show a clear social purpose, and information about how you distribute
profit to fulfil these aims.

Purpose of organisation

Please briefly describe the overall aims and objectives of your organisation and the activities or services

your organisation provides

15



Thu Jan 18 14:31:18 GMT 2018Application: OGA125463

  Page  of 3 14

140
Volunteers (excluding management

committee)

3
Part time staff / workers

6
Full time staff / workers

Charles Burrell Centre Ltd operates from a former school. Our overall objective is to
provide affordable multi-purpose space to rent for local community organisations,
registered charities and small businesses. We host 46 permanent tenants including
Hertz, West Brothers Ltd and West Suffolk College alongside voluntary/community
organisations; Thetford Foodbank, Thetford Toy Library, Polish Language School and
Face 2 Face Educational Trust.

Additionally, we host and support volunteering, including referrals from local Job Centre,
NOVA training and Prince's Trust. We support our volunteers with work experience,
mentoring and training opportunities to develop their skills and enhance their
employment prospects.

Staffing and volunteers
How many of each of the following are involved in the organisation?

Management committee
10

Members (excluding management committee)
150

Income of your organisation

Total income in the most recent accounting year
213029

What are your organisation's current unrestricted reserves?
34699

Banking details
Please provide details of the organisation's bank account

Bank account name
Charles Burrell Centre Ltd

Bank account number
20345884

Bank sort code
608301

How many signatures are required to authorise payments from the organisation's account?
2

Names of signatories, and their roles in the organisation

Terry Jermy - Chairman
Chris Kennard - Chair of Finance Sub-Committee
Dave Hodgkinson - Chair of Building Operations Sub-Committee
Mike Brindle - Member of Finance Sub-Committee
Ryan Windsor - Member of Finance Sub-Committee

16



Thu Jan 18 14:31:18 GMT 2018Application: OGA125463

  Page  of 4 14

Project / funding end date
31/03/2020

Project / funding start date
02/04/2018

Second contact
Please provide details for a second contact who is willing to be contacted regarding this application if
the main contact cannot be reached.

Title
Mr

Forename/s
Terry

Surname
Jermy

Position in organisation
Chairman, Board of Directors

Daytime phone
07742157967

Email
cllrterryjermy@googlemail.com

Section 2 - About the project

Which Fund are you applying to?
Tell us which Breckland Fund you are applying to (Match Funding Large grant or Match Funding Small
grant) - please make sure you have read the guidance for the Fund you have chosen.

Match Funding Large Grant

Ownership and permissions
Please complete this section if you are applying for funds to carry out building or ground works,
including repairs and improvements, or installing permanent fixtures such as play equipment.

Does your organisation own the building/ land in question?

Yes

If NO, please tell us who owns the site, and how your organisation has responsibility for it - for example if

you hold a lease please tell us how long is remaining on the agreement

We lease the whole site (Charles Burrell Centre) from Thetford Town Council and have
27 years remaining on our lease agreement

Does your project need any permissions to proceed? For example planning or change of use permissions, a

faculty or similar - if YES please provide details below and send evidence that this is in place along with your

completed application.

Project Details

Project name
Full Steam Ahead

17



Thu Jan 18 14:31:18 GMT 2018Application: OGA125463

  Page  of 5 14

What area will your project benefit?
Breckland 

Which area (estate, town, village, borough) do most of the people who benefit come from?
Thetford

Please provide a postcode which best represents the geographical area you will benefit.
IP24 3LH

What is the grant required for? Please describe your planned project/ activity.

Charles Burrell Centre Ltd has successfully applied for and been awarded a grant of
£43,187.95 from LIFT (Local Investment in Future Talent). LIFT will only grant a
maximum of 50% of the total project costs and therefore match funding is required. If
successful, the grant will enable the centre to provide 80 work experience opportunities,
targeting those that are economically inactive. The centre has built strong relationships
and referral links with JobCentre Plus, Nova Training, Prince's Trust and several other
local service providers to offer basic work experience placements. Over 140 volunteers
have registered with us in the past three years, giving their time in various capacities.
We do not, however, have the capacity amongst our current staff team to support any
more people than we already have. This project is about expanding our capacity to take
more volunteers to meet existing demand. This project will enable 80 individuals over
the course of the project to take advantage of CBC’s unique offer of: access to volunteer
work experience, vocational training, learning and skills provision, social inclusion and
meaningful, productive connection to local businesses and employers. We are confident,
given our previous and current experience, that our delivery model will work, particularly
given the successes experienced to date whereby participants have gained skills and/or
obtained employment as a result of volunteering with us. We are applying for match
funding of £20,000, which will go towards the recruitment of a
Project Coordinator. This will be a two year project. This is will be an exciting new
employment opportunity and will enable us to dedicate a suitably trained and
experienced member of staff to manage volunteers. This will include ensuring adequate
safety and supervision, coordination of inductions and training sessions, enhancing
current links with local service providers and creating new ones, recruitment of
volunteers, practical support, assistance with job searching/applications and ensuring all
targets are being met. The Project Coordinator will act as a mentor to volunteers, using
experience and resources to help individuals gain confidence as well as worked-based
skills. The Charles Burrell Centre staff and board members will also be actively involved
in the
project offering advice, training and guidance in a number of areas.

Who will benefit from this project and how?

18



Thu Jan 18 14:31:18 GMT 2018Application: OGA125463

  Page  of 6 14

Our project will recruit 80 participants over two-years and provide them with practical
work experience and a training and development package, co-ordinated as part of a
Personal Development Plan overseen by the 'Full Steam Ahead' Project Coordinator
and supported by a part-time administrator. Approximately 10 volunteers will be
engaged at any one time, depending on the level of support required for each individual.
Participants will undertake a range of tasks at the centre which is ideally placed to
provide work experience. Those opportunities will include grounds maintenance tasks
across our 12-hectare site, general maintenance tasks including painting and decorating
as well as administration tasks. Grounds maintenance tasks will include grass-cutting,
weeding, tending to flower beds, landscaping, tree work and litter picking. Some of the
basic maintenance tasks on site will include painting, plumbing and electrical work and
other DIY tasks. Opportunities will also exist to support fundraising activities and other
events on site which can be very worthwhile and rewarding for participants. Volunteers
will be fully supported over a two-month period at which point they may choose to
progress to full or part-time employment, other volunteering opportunities or continue
volunteering at the centre.
Regular reviews and supervisions will be built into the programme to support
participants at each stage and a final review meeting will take place to confirm next
steps. All volunteers will be able to use our dedicated 'Volunteers Hub' at the centre to
research job vacancies, complete application forms, refresh their CV and meet with
those able to provide advice and guidance around careers support. Our staff, board
members and experienced volunteers will be able to offer mentoring support to
participants. This may include advice about funding available for business start-ups or
information about training available. Many tenants on site have already been through
this process with some securing funding from the LEP, this first-hand experience is
invaluable and available to be shared. With so many tenants on site we are often able to
sign-post volunteers to practical support, including training provided by West Suffolk
College, Thetford Foodbank, Toy Library and others. To ensure our project is inclusive
we have budgeted to support volunteers with childcare
costs, accessing one of the two childcare facilities on site and budgeted to provide
support with transportation costs so that people in the surrounding Brecks hinterland can
access the project even if they do not have their own transport.

How do you know this project is needed, and that people want it?

The Brecks Area LAG identifies that there are many barriers to employment and
self-employment, particularly for residents in rural areas. We currently have twelve
volunteers at Charles Burrell Centre that complete at least one shift per week. These
individuals are currently unemployed, some of them long-term. Four of them have been
referred to us from Nova Training as young people struggling to find a pathway to
employment due to a lack of qualifications and experience. Three have been referred
from JobCentre Plus as JSA clients. Both of these organisations have further individuals
looking for short-term work placements to improve confidence, learn about the working
environment and learn skills in subjects such as maintenance, horticulture,
administration, IT support and various other duties. We are currently at our maximum
capacity due to operating with such a small team (5 full time employees and 2 part time
employees). Our work experience placements have seen successful results with many
individuals going on to find employment or further education to boost career prospects.
We offer enjoyable and exciting volunteering opportunities for people and many of those
volunteers progressed within our own organisation with two going on to become our
employees.

If this is a large match funding application (over £5,000) please describe how your project will be financially

and environmentally sustainable and maintained in the future

19



Thu Jan 18 14:31:18 GMT 2018Application: OGA125463

  Page  of 7 14

We regard this as a pilot project. We have strict targets to obtain linked with the LIFT
funding which is managed by Norfolk County Council. The Local Investment in Future
Talent (LIFT) programme is a three strand employability and skills delegated grant
scheme for voluntary, community and social enterprises (VCSE) and other relevant
organisations in the rural areas of Norfolk and North Suffolk. There is just over £1m
grant funding available for eligible projects up to spring 2020. Grants from £5,000 to
around £50,000 are available; match funding is required. LIFT is funded by the
European Social Fund (ESF), with financial support from Norfolk County Council,
Broadland District Council and South Norfolk District Council. All EU projects approved
before the point at which the UK departs the EU will have their funding guaranteed by
the UK government for their duration. Our aim would be to increase the surplus
generated by CBC Ltd so that we could core fund this project by 2020.

The centre has strict financial regulations in place and various control measures that
relate to expenditures and finance management such as ordering procedures, triple
level authority from signatories, etc. A Project Coordinator will also be tasked with
keeping the project on track and will be issued with regular short-term objectives and
targets. Their role will also include obtaining and managing resources to support the
project, such as maintenance and gardening equipment which will be used beyond the
initial project duration. The running
of the centre also requires a constant need for support in these areas and will always
need support from volunteers due to capacity and resources. The centre is a non-profit
organisation and supporting local residents with employment prospects is one of our key
objectives. Charles Burrell Centre Limited has been awarded exempt charity status from
HMRC with will strive to maintain this status by ensuring projects such as this one
remain in operation. We also employ a Community Engagement Coordinator on a
permanent basis who will
support the project and help ensure it will be maintained in the future

What, if any safety issues are related to your project or activity? If your project is working with children,

young people under the age of 18 or vulnerable adult, how will they be kept safe?

The centre has risk assessments, policies, procedures, inductions and ongoing training
in place to ensure safety at all times. In regards to volunteers, there are systems such
as supervision and staff ratios that are considered and planned throughout work
placement programmes. This begins with the initial recruitment process. We interview
candidates to ensure suitability and also request independent references before
considering them for volunteering. A detailed induction process then takes place which
is carefully planned and recorded.
This will include all safety aspects such as fire prevention and evacuation, security
procedures, health and safety aspects, etc. It will also include training sessions on
various pieces of equipment (based on suitability).
We have a safeguarding policy in place which is communicated to volunteers and the
Project Coordinator will be responsible for providing supervision and assistance to
ensure that safety standards are being met. We also provide PPE to volunteers to
protect eyes, hands and exposed skin where necessary. Prior to any tasks taking place,
a risk assessment will be conducted to identify potential hazards and potential injuries
before suitable control measures and identified and implemented to reduce or remove
risk. The risks may include misuse of equipment, COSHH, slips, trips, falls and
misbehaviour. Candidates will be removed from the programme if control measures are
ignored. We also provide independent training sessions to all our volunteers which
includes emergency first aid, fire marshal training, COSSH and other key areas.

Alignment with Breckland Council Objectives

Please explain how the project contributes towards the Breckland Council objectives you have identified

Supporting Breckland to Develop and Thrive: This project particularly supports the
objective of 'supporting groups and organisations to provide a range of local facilities
within their communities which further improve learning opportunities, community health
and community wellbeing. This project will have clear benefits for Charles Burrell Centre
Ltd and increase the
sustainability of the centre by improving the level of maintenance undertaken on site and
making the venue more attractive to future tenants and hirers.

20



Thu Jan 18 14:31:18 GMT 2018Application: OGA125463

  Page  of 8 14

Breakdown
PPE and other equipment

Requested amount
0
Total cost
4650

Breakdown
Volunteer Hub costs - £1,500. Training Costs - £4,800. Childcare Support - £2,200.
Participant travel support - £1,600

Requested amount
0
Total cost
10100

Breakdown
Project Co-ordinator – Cost represents a salary of £18,500 per annum plus on-costs as
determined by LIFT salary calculator. Salary arrived at through research into similar
positions and salary scales. Charles Burrell Centre Ltd were recently successful with a
lottery funding bid which included funding for a Project Co-ordinator and following
research this salary was set at £18,500 and we have been able to recruit an
experienced project co-ordinator for this role. Additionally there will be a part-time (18.5
hours) project administrator to support the project.

Requested amount
20000
Total cost
61066

We also feel that this project supports the objective concerning 'developing the local
economy to be vibrant with continued growth'. The centre has enabled 19 brand new
business start-ups to get going, which can clearly be linked with the Breckland Council
objective to 'grow and encourage local opportunities and activities for business in the
district'.

Project Budget

How much money are you applying for?
20000

What is the total cost of the project?
86375.90

Have you already secured other funding for this project?
Yes 

If YES, how much has been raised so far?
66377.90

Please provide details of this other funding and/or details of applications to other grant schemes yet to be

confirmed

£43,187.95 confirmed by LIFT. £23,187.95 confirmed by Charles Burrell Centre Ltd.

Staff Costs - people who will be paid to help deliver your project

Volunteer Costs
For example, volunteer expenses and training

Operational/activity costs
For example, hiring a venue or providing transport for participants

21



Thu Jan 18 14:31:18 GMT 2018Application: OGA125463

  Page  of 9 14

BreakdownRequested amount

Total cost

BreakdownRequested amount
0
Total cost
1400

BreakdownRequested amount

Total cost

Breakdown
Overheads

Requested amount
0
Total cost
9159.90

Office, overhead, premises costs
For example, paying for utilities or a contribution to administration / management support

Capital costs
Things you will buy, for example materials or equipment, or cost of building works - please note
quotes/ estimates should be provided

Publicity costs
Costs of promoting your project, for example printing leaflets or posters

Other costs
Please specify any costs that have not been included under any of the headings above

22



Thu Jan 18 14:31:18 GMT 2018Application: OGA125463

  Page  of 10 14

Section 3 - Impact: How your project will make a difference

Select a category from the drop down list below that best describes the impact that your project will have (the

difference it will make).
Improve life skills, education, employability and enterprise 

Select the primary outcome for your project or activity
Increase employability 

Beneficiaries

How many people will benefit from this funding?
80

Please tell us how you have estimated this figure - for example, it may be based on bookings, memberships,

audiences or visitors to date

This project is about expanding our capacity to take more volunteers to meet existing
demand. This project will enable 80 individuals over the course of the project to take
advantage of CBC’s unique offer of; access to volunteer work experience, vocational
training, learning and skills provision, social inclusion and meaningful, productive
connection to local businesses and employers. We are confident given our previous and
current experience that our delivery model will work, particularly given the successes
experienced to date whereby participants have gained skills and/or obtained
employment as a result of volunteering with us.
We believe the target of 20 volunteers per every six months is a very realistic and
achievable target based on capabilities and referral schemes with local service provides
such as JobCentre Plus, Nova Training, Princes Trust, etc.

Primary Beneficiary - Select a single option to represent the primary beneficiary group for this grant
Long-term unemployed 

Please list any other beneficiary groups who will benefit from your grant

Black, Asian and minority ethnic Carers

Children and young people Ex-offenders/offenders/At risk of offending

Families/Parents/Lone parents Homeless people

Lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgendered groups Local residents

Men Not in education, employment and training (NEET 16-24)

Older people People in care or suffering serious illness

People living in poverty People with alcohol/drug addictions

People with learning difficulties People with low skill levels

People with mental health issues People with multiple disabilities

People with physical difficulties Refugees/asylum seekers /immigrants

Victims of crime/violence/abuse Women

23



Thu Jan 18 14:31:18 GMT 2018Application: OGA125463

  Page  of 11 14

Ethnicity

Primary ethnic group - select a single option to represent the primary ethnic group for this grant
White British 

Please list any other ethnic groups who will benefit from your grant:

African All ethnicities

Any other Asian and Asian British

Asian and White Bangladeshi

Black African and White Black Caribbean and White

Black and Black British Caribbean

Chinese Chinese or other group

Indian Mixed

Other Asian Other Black

Other Mixed Ethnicity Other White

Pakistani White

White East European White Gypsies and Travellers

White Irish

Issues

Primary issue - select a single option to represent the primary issue that will be addressed by this grant
Education, learning and training 

Please list any other issues that will be addressed by this grant

24



Thu Jan 18 14:31:18 GMT 2018Application: OGA125463

  Page  of 12 14

Anti-social behaviour Arts, culture and heritage

Bullying Caring responsibilities

Counselling/Advice/Mentoring Crime and safety

Disability and access issues Domestic violence

Economy Emergency/Rescue services

Employment and labour Environment and improving surroundings

Financial exclusion and financial illiteracy Gangs

Harmful practice Health, wellbeing and serious illness

Homelessness Housing

IT / Technology Language, culture and racial integration

Mental health Offending/At risk of offending

Poverty and disadvantage Refugees/Asylum/Immigration

Religion Renewable energies and recycling

Rural issues Sexual abuse

Social inclusion and fairness Sport and recreation

Stigma/Discrimination Stronger communities/Community support and development

Substance abuse and addiction Supporting family life

Violence and Exploitation

Age Groups

Please indicate the primary age group that will benefit from this grant
Adults (26-65) 

Please list any other applicable age groups for your grant.

All ages Children (5-12)

Early years (0-4) Seniors (65+)

Young adults (19-25) Young people (13-18)

Section 4 - Supporting information and Declaration

Supporting Documents
To complete your application, you are required to submit supporting information that provides evidence of
how your organisation is set up, and details of your project. 
Along with your online application we also require you to submit copies of the following:

25



Thu Jan 18 14:31:18 GMT 2018Application: OGA125463

  Page  of 13 14

1.  

2.  

3.  

A copy of your constitution of governing document

A copy of your most recent annual accounts (or current financial statement if your organisation has been
operating for less than 1 year)

A copy of a recent bank statement

Evidence that you have consulted with the community

Evidence of match funding

A copy of relevant safeguarding policies if your project involves work with children or vulnerable adults

Copies of quotes, estimates or other evidence of costs if applying for funds to pay for equipment, building
works, services or similar (preferably three for each service/product)

For projects involving building works or installations of e.g. of sports/play equipment - evidence that planning
permission/ other relevant permissions are in place or that they are not required

A business plan (for projects with a total cost of over £50,000)

A copy of your equal opportunities policy/statement

Evidence of support from your Breckland Council ward member - they can send this direct to Norfolk
Community Foundation.

If you have electronic copies available, these documents can be uploaded by following the 'Add Document'
link below which will guide you to the Attachments upload function at the end of this form.  Please then
upload the documents as prompted.
 
If you prefer to send some or all of these documents separately by post or email, please check the box below,
and ensure that all the information required is submitted to Norfolk Community Foundation clearly stating the
name of the organisation and the Fund you are applying for.
 
If you do not have all of the documents listed above, or are able to provide a link to view some of your
evidence online, please provide details in the box below.
 
If you have provided documents such as the constitution and policies to Norfolk Community Foundation with
previous applications and no changes have been made, there is no need to provide further copies - where
this is the case please also note in the box below.  Please note this only applies to documents that are not
updated regularly.
 
If you have any questions about the supporting information required, please contact the Grants Team on
01603 623958 or email grants@norfolkfoundation.com

Documents to follow in post to Norfolk Community Foundation, St James Mill, Whitefriars, Norwich NR3 1TN or by

email to grants@norfolkfoundation.com

Yes

Add document

You can use this space to provide links to items you wish to purchase with your grant, or to enable us to

view documents online. Also tell us if you believe we hold current copies of your organisation's constitution

and policies.

Declaration
Please enter your name and position below to confirm that you accept the following conditions: 

I am authorised to make the application on behalf of the above organisation.

I certify that the information in this application is correct.

If the information in the application changes in any way I will inform Norfolk Community Foundation
immediately.

26



Thu Jan 18 14:31:18 GMT 2018Application: OGA125463

  Page  of 14 14

4.  

5.  

I give permission for Norfolk Community Foundation to record the information in this form electronically and
to contact my organisation by phone, mail or email with information about its activities and about funding
opportunities.

I agree to participate in monitoring, auditing and evaluation related to these funds - you can find out more
about how Norfolk Community Foundation monitors grants at 
www.norfolkfoundation.com/apply/funding-for-non-profits/monitoring/

Please tick this box to confirm that you have read and understood the above conditions.

Yes

Declaration - Please enter your name
MARK SNOWDON

Position in organisation
CHIEF
OPERATIONS
OFFICER

27

http://www.norfolkfoundation.com/apply/funding-for-non-profits/monitoring/


BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Cllr Gordon Bambridge, Executive Member for Growth 

To: Cabinet, March 20th 2018

Author: Matthew Hogan, Strategic Housing Manager

Subject: Investment approach in relation to available funds for affordable housing

Purpose: To set out the proposed investment approach in relation to available funds 
to support the supply of affordable housing across the district.  

Recommendation(s): 

1) That the proposed broad investment approach for available funds for affordable housing, as 
set out within this report, is considered and approved

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 Breckland Council currently holds a total of £1,002,948 in capital funding to support the 
supply of affordable housing across the district. This funding total consists of monies set 
aside by the authority out of its own capital budgets, alongside money received from 
developers in the form of affordable housing ‘commuted sums’. This report sets out and 
seeks approval for an emerging direction of travel in relation to an investment approach 
for these funds. 

1.2   In terms of the background, the history behind the available funding is as follows; 

 Council Funds. In 2010 the authority took the decision to set aside £250,000 per 
annum for four consecutive years in capital funding to support the delivery of 
affordable housing. This funding has been used to support a number of key projects, 
including the development of 68 new affordable homes at Fulmerston in Thetford. A 
total of £525,276 of this money remains within the capital programme, and has been 
rolled over into the council’s budget on an annual basis. There are no restrictions 
relating to how this money could be spent, beyond local authority capital accounting 
rules.

 Commuted Sums. The authority holds £477,672 in funding received in the form of 
‘commuted sums’. These are payments made to the authority by private developers in 
lieu of providing affordable housing ‘on site’. For example, where it is not practical for 
affordable housing to be provided as part of a wider development (e.g. as part of a 
private older persons housing complex, where the service charges would render the 
‘affordable housing’ unaffordable), the council will sometimes take a financial payment. 
This is with a view for the payment to be used to facilitate the delivery of affordable 
housing elsewhere through more practical means. The nature of this type of payment 
means that it is ring fenced to support the delivery of housing that meets the statutory 
definition of affordable housing. Such payments can also have time limits associated 
with them, with requirements for the funding to be repaid if they are not spent within 
those associated timescales. Such payments may also be subject to restrictions that 
restrict spend to certain geographical areas. Since 2015 the authority has utilised a 
total of £335,000 in commuted sums funding to support the current and future delivery 
of 72 affordable homes across Breckland. 

28

Agenda Item 8



1.3   Given the level of funding that the authority has available to support the delivery of 
affordable housing, officers have been tasked with considering the most appropriate 
approach for the use of this funding. 

1.4   One area that officers have identified where there is a need to explore further additional 
investment in accommodation relates to short-term, interim accommodation to meet the 
immediate housing needs of households impacted upon by homelessness. There are a 
number of compelling reasons as to why investment in temporary accommodation is an 
area which would benefit from further detailed exploration. These reasons include the 
following; 

 A shortfall in the current provision of interim accommodation. Whereas the 
authority already has a number of options for interim accommodation for households 
impacted by homelessness, the authority is currently experiencing a shortfall in overall 
provision. The council’s current estimate is that there is a requirement for 10-15 units 
of accommodation to address the current shortfall in provision.  

 The use of bed and breakfast accommodation. This shortfall in provision means 
that, whereas many homeless households who seek assistance from the authority are 
accommodated in purpose built temporary accommodation, the authority is in a 
position where it is often reliant upon ‘bed and breakfast’ accommodation in order to 
meet the demands placed upon the council’s Housing Options service. Whereas 
across the country the use of bed and breakfast accommodation is a common 
approach to meeting the need for interim accommodation, the government’s ambition 
is for local authority authorities to minimise the use of bed and breakfast 
accommodation wherever possible. 

 A high and increasing cost to the authority. As a result of this shortfall in provision, 
the council currently spends a gross figure of circa £300,000 per annum on bed and 
breakfast accommodation to meet its statutory duties towards homeless households. 
Whereas the authority is able to utilise housing benefit to recoup an element of the 
cost of using bed and breakfast accommodation, future planned changes to the 
housing benefit system are likely to mean that the net cost to the authority of using 
bed and breakfast accommodation will increase over time.  

 The Homelessness Reduction Act. The Homelessness Reduction Act, which takes 
effect on April 3rd 2018, is a major legislative change which requires local authorities to 
widen the support that they offer to homeless households. In response to the Act, an 
increasing number of local authorities are exploring the scope to make available short 
term accommodation to households to whom the council does not owe a statutory duty 
to provide accommodation, as a means of taking an increasingly proactive approach in 
preventing and alleviating homelessness. Investment in additional provision will 
broaden the ability of the Council to take a similar approach. 

1.5   Consequently, it is proposed that an investment approach should be explored which 
focuses upon utilising available funding to increase the provision of interim 
accommodation for homeless households within the district. This includes temporary 
accommodation provision that can be bought into the ownership of the council, and/or 
accommodation which can be facilitated and/or managed through working in partnership 
with others. Should the recommendations be approved, the next steps will be to identify 
some firm proposals for investment of the available funding within the context of this 
investment approach. 

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Do nothing – Under this option the authority will not seek to pursue an investment 
approach for this funding. This approach would mean that the authority would not be in a 

29



position to capitalise on any opportunities to improve housing provision for those 
experiencing homelessness within the district. 

2.2 Proceed as per the report recommendations (Recommended Option) – Under this 
option, an investment approach will be explored which focuses upon utilising available 
funding to increase the provision of interim accommodation for homeless households 
within the district. 

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 The reason for this recommendation is to enable exploration of an investment approach 
which focuses upon utilising available funding to increase the provision of interim 
accommodation for homeless households within the district.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 Whereas it should be noted that firm proposals in relation to available funding are yet to 
be developed, an approach based around investment in short term interim 
accommodation to support the needs of homeless households is anticipated to generate 
the following benefits; 

 To bridge a shortfall in availability of interim accommodation to support the needs of 
homeless households

 An increase in the supply of suitable accommodation provision for homeless 
households, which in turn has the potential to improve the quality of the offer that the 
authority is able to make to households who are in need of short term accommodation

 A decrease in expenditure on bed and breakfast accommodation; expenditure which, 
without intervention, is likely to increase into the future. 

 The scope for the Council to extend the types of households to whom the authority 
provides proactive assistance in order to relieve homelessness. 

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.2 Constitution & Legal

5.2.1 A total of £477,672 of the available funding is linked to s.106 agreements; agreements that 
set out the terms and conditions associated with the payment and spend of the grant. Legal 
advice has been sought on the wording of the agreements associated with these payments 
to ensure that the nature of the proposed investment approach for the funds is compliant 
with those agreements. It should be noted that, in accordance with the Council’s 
constitution (Part 3, delegation ‘D4’), delegated powers exist that, subject to appropriate 
checks and balances (including powers of ‘call-in’), enable the relevant Portfolio Holder to 
acquire land and properties within existing budgets. 

5.3 Contracts

5.3.1 A total of £477,672 of the available funding is linked to s.106 agreements; agreements that 
set out the terms and conditions associated with the payment and spend of the grant. Legal 
advice has been sought on the wording of the agreements associated with these payments 
to ensure that the nature of the proposed investment approach for the funds is compliant 
with those agreements.

5.4 Corporate Priorities

30



5.4.1 The report recommendations will support the council in the delivery of a number of 
corporate objectives, including ‘enabling stronger and more independent communities’, and 
‘providing the right services in the right time and in the right way’. It is also worth noting that 
the prevention and relief of homelessness is a key focus of the Breckland Housing and 
Homelessness Strategy 2017-21. 

5.5 Financial 

5.7.1 The recommendations contained within this report carry with them a number of financial 
implications, which are set out within the body of this report. The detailed financial 
implications of any specific investment proposals will be explored and considered as and 
when those investment proposals arise. 

5.8 Health & Wellbeing

5.8.1 The proposed investment approach for the available funds (i.e. an approach focused 
around increasing the supply of accommodation for homeless households) has the potential 
to make a positive contribution to the health and wellbeing of the households that any such 
accommodation would serve.  

5.9 Risk Management 

5.10.1 Risks associated with this activity will be managed and overseen by an officer project 
group, who will tasked with moving this project forward. 

5.10 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.13.1 It should be noted that an element of the available funding has timescales associated with 
spend. Consequently, there is a necessity to ensure that a programme of activity around 
investment of available funds is put in place in a timely manner.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 All Wards

7.0 ACRONYMS 

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Matthew Hogan, Shared Strategic Housing Manager
Telephone Number: 01775 764524
Email: matthew.hogan@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service

Appendices attached to this report: 

31



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Sam Chapman-Allen, Deputy Leader & Executive Member for Strategy 
Governance and Transformation

To: Cabinet –  20/03/2018 

(Author: Charlie Hilton, Central Contracts & Procurement Manager)

Subject PFI Benchmarking Breckland Leisure Contract

Purpose: To describe the PFI benchmarking process and request delegation of 
authority to progress the necessary Processes

Recommendation(s): 

That the Cabinet agree to delegate authority to the Executive Director for Strategy & 
Governance in consultation with the Deputy Leader & Executive Member for Strategy 
Governance and Transformation and the Portfolio Holder for Place to progress the 
Benchmarking Exercise and in particular to take the actions listed in paragraph 1.10

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Breckland PFI for leisure services is currently in its 10th year of full operation. In the 
12th year a new unitary charge figure will be implemented. The unitary charge changes 
through the agreement of a Benchmark Figure which is determined by a prescribed 
benchmarking procedure.

1.2 The Benchmark Figure means the amount which represents the net operating deficit or 
surplus generated by the leisure operator that could be generated (on a like for like basis) 
to the comparable market (local authority leisure centre facilities operated under PFI or 
other forms of PPP) taking into account the following:

 All revenue generate for the facility
 Staffing and staff related costs
 Repairs & Maintenance
 Utilities, including water, gas & electricity
 Marketing
 NNDR
 Equipment & Materials
 Cost of goods sold to catering & retail
 Telephones
 Stationary & Postage
 Photocopying/printing
 Fixtures & Fittings
 Licences & Consents
 Cleaning Materials
 Chemicals
 Cash Collection

32

Agenda Item 9



 Refuse collection
 Credit card charges
 Computer maintenance & support
 Services contracts
 Sports development
 Central cost to the leisure operator and limited to 10% of the total operating 

costs inclusive
 Management fee limited to 8% of the total operating costs inclusive

The contract requires both parties to meet to agree the Benchmark Figure no later than 1 
year before the benchmark date.  The benchmark date is 20th April 2019 so a meeting will 
take place by 19th April 2018. Breckland Council has 15 days to agree or reject the figure 
that is proposed.  If the figure is agreed it is implemented in April 2019.

1.4 If no agreement is reached within 15 days the parties shall agree upon and appoint a 
Benchmark Consultant and instruct them to conduct the Benchmark Exercise.  At the same 
time as appointing the Benchmark Consultant the parties shall agree the terms of reference 
for the Benchmark Exercise.

1.5 The Benchmark Consultant will determine the Benchmark Figure for each facility and 
aggregate the figures to give an overall Benchmark Figure taking into account:

 The services and the Service Specification excluding the Maintenance Services

 Socio-economic groups within the catchment area of a 10 mile radius of the relevant 
Facility and demographics of that area

 Accessibility of each Site (e.g. its location, public transport to each site and available 
car parking)

  The Authority’s social and leisure policies

 The Authority’s political obligations

 The Authority’s pricing policy

 Competition in the catchment area

 Current labour rates for the time being applying to the Comparable Market

 Cost variations in consumables and other materials used in the provision of 
Benchmarked Services

 The age and condition of the buildings comprising the relevant Facility

 The cost of any changes in work methods necessary for conformity with Quest 
Accreditation, Good Industry Practice

 Benchmark Information collected

 Such other criteria as the parties may agree
1.6 Following the Benchmark Exercise the Benchmark Consultant will produce a Benchmark 

Report.  Within 20 days each party will serve notice on the other party setting out whether 
or not it agrees with the Benchmark Figure.

1.7 In circumstances when the parties have been unable again to agree a Benchmark Figure 
then the parties should try to agree the contents of an Authority Notice of Change with a 
view to a Change to the Service Specification, Facilities or Method Statements.  This is to 
help mitigate any adverse implications to both parties of any adjustment to the Unitary 
Charge.

33



1.8 If the parties are unable to agree to the Notice of Change a Market Test exercise will be 
conducted. The Contractor (Breckland Leisure Limited) is responsible for managing the 
Market Test tendering process with the parties bearing their own costs.

1.9 This increased payment would continue annually until the next benchmark date in 2024.

1.10 As Breckland Council will be presented with a Benchmark Figure by 19th April 2018 it is 
necessary to approve appropriate delegations to allow the Council to respond in time to 
meet the contractual requirements set out in Schedule 18 Part 1 ‘Benchmarking Procedure’ 
of the Project Agreement. For clarity the required delegations are as follows:

 To accept or reject the initial benchmark figure presented by or on behalf of 
Breckland Leisure Limited (15 days to accept or reject)

 To agree the appointment of a Benchmark Consultant if required
 To accept or reject the second benchmark figure presented by the appointed 

Benchmark Consultant should the initial figure be rejected (20 days to accept or 
reject)

 Where the parties have been unable to agree a Benchmark Figure, to agree to the 
contents of any Authority Notice of Change with a view to a change to the Service 
Specification

 To determine whether or not to agree a market test process

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 To grant the necessary delegations

2.2 Not to grant some or all of the necessary delegations – failure to grant the delegations will 
likely result in result in a delay to the process which could prejudice the Council’s position.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 To allow the council to meet its contractual obligations described in Schedule 18 part 1 
‘Benchmarking Procedure’ of the Project Agreement

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 Will enable the council to progress with benchmarking in a timely fashion in accordance 
with the contractual obligations

4.2 Ability to negotiate benchmarking figure down

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Contracts

The Council is contractually bound but the contents of the PFI agreement and supporting 
Schedules to the Benchmarking process in a timely manner

5.2 Legal

The Council is contractually bound by the contents of the PFI agreement

34



5.3 Finance

Potential increase in service delivery costs as a result of the Benchmarking Exercise

5.4 Risks

The separate decision before Cabinet, in respect of the leasing of units at Riverside, will 
have implications for the benchmarking exercise. Those potential implications are set out in 
a separate report before Cabinet on that proposal.

Failure to meet deadlines as described in Schedule 18 Part 1 ‘Benchmarking Procedure’ of 
the Project Agreement would result in the initial figure being automatically accepted.

6.0 ACRONYMS

6.1 PFI – Private Finance Initiative
6.2 NNDR – National Non-Domestic Rates
6.3 PPP – Public Private Partnership

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Charlie Hilton Central Contracts & Procurement Manager
Telephone Number 01362 656352
Email: charlotte.hilton@breckland-sholland.gov.uk 

Key Decision: Y 

Exempt Decision:

This report refers to a Discretionary Service 

35

mailto:charlotte.hilton@breckland-sholland.gov.uk


Document is Restricted

36

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

42

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	Minutes

	7a Charles Burrell Centre - Large Match Funding Application
	Appendix 1 for Charles Burrel Centre - Large Match Funding Application

	8 Investment in affordable housing
	9 PFI Benchmarking Exercise
	12 Riverside, Thetford - Commercial Lettings
	Appendix 1 Proforma B


